Dynamic standing as an effective and feasible strategy to combat the health risks of prolonged sitting and static standing



White paper Gymba 2020[©] All rights reserved



Dynamic standing as an effective and feasible strategy to combat the health risks of prolonged sitting and static standing

PhD Olli M. Tikkanen; PhD Arto J. Pesola

White paper Gymba 2020[©] All rights reserved

Gymba®

Contents

1. Introduction	4
2. Health effects of sitting	4
2.1 Metabolic health risks of prolonged sitting	4
2.2 Effectiveness of breaking up prolonged sitting with physical activity	4
3. Health effects of standing	5
3.1 Static and dynamic standing	5
3.2 Ergonomics of standing	5
3.3 Discomfort and productivity	6
3.4 Blood flow and swelling of legs during standing and walking	6
3.5 Pressure on the feet during standing	7
4. Incorrect posture and musculoskeletal problems	7
4.1 Health problems related to poor posture	7
4.2 Task variation	7
4.3 Adverse effects of static postures and sitting on intervertebral discs	8
4.4 Movement of interverbal discs	8
5. Recommendations for active working	8
6. Balance training	8
7. Summary and conclusions	9
8. References	10



1. Introduction

Prolonged sitting has been identified as a risk factor for acute metabolic disorders, such as glucose intolerance and adverse peripheral hemodynamic changes. Standing which breaks up the prolonged sitting periods has been proposed as a strategy to combat these adverse health outcomes. However, prolonged static standing is not without harms. A relatively strong evidence base from ergonomic literature opposes the promotion of prolonged static standing as healthy posture. Instead, standing should be frequently broken up with sitting or movement.

Another, potentially healthier alternative for static standing, is dynamic standing. Dynamic standing can refer to ambulating legs while standing. This ambulation can be assisted with ergonomic products, such as balance boards. The purpose of this report is to give an overview on the biomechanical and metabolic mechanisms that support the use of dynamic standing, instead of static standing, to combat the health risks of sitting. Moreover, we give an overview on randomized controlled trials using dynamic standing to improve metabolic and musculoskeletal health, as well as productivity outcomes. These results are relevant for occupational settings where prolonged sitting, as well as prolonged static standing, introduce a health risk for employees.

2. Health effects of sitting

2.1 Metabolic health risks of prolonged sitting

It is important to differentiate between sedentary behaviour and physical inactivity. Physical inactivity is defined as not meeting the current guidelines for health-enhancing physical activity, i.e. not exercising enough. While, *sedentary behaviour* is defined as any waking activity performed in a sitting/lying position expending very little energy (about 1.0–1.5 METs) (Sedentary Behaviour Research Network 2012, Tremblay et al. 2017). Therefore, both sedentary behaviour and physical activity can coexist.

There is increasing amount of research on identifying health risks associated with sedentary behaviours. The dose-response relationship between sitting time and mortality rates has been found to be comparable among those who are physically inactive and active, and across body mass index categories (Katzmarzyk, Gledhill & Shephard 2000). Indeed, epidemiological studies have shown that sedentary time predicts metabolic syndrome (Dunstan et al. 2005, Bertrais et al. 2005), abnormal glucose metabolism (Dunstan et al. 2004 and 2007), obesity (Hu 2003, Jakes et al. 2003), type II diabetes (Hu 2003, Hu et al. 2001), high blood pressure (Jakes et al. 2003), cardiovascular disease (Kronenberg et al. 2000) and all-cause mortality (Katzmarzyk et al. 2009) independently from exercise.

In addition to total sedentary time, the pattern of the accumulation of sedentary time seems to be also important in relation to its negative health consequences. It has been shown that the total number of breaks (e.g. on average of light intensity and lasting less than 5 minutes) in sedentary time is associated with significantly lower waist circumference, BMI, 2-h plasma glucose and triglycerides independent of total sedentary time (Healy et al. 2008). Based on these results, it has been suggested that breaking prolonged periods of sitting could be a valuable addition to the physical activity recommendations (Healy et al. 2008).

2.2 Effectiveness of breaking up prolonged sitting with physical activity

Studies using compositional and isotemporal data analysis methods have found that when replacing sedentary behaviour with physical activity, the magnitude of sedentary behaviour-related risk is decreased. In a group of healthy participants, a statistical replacement of 10 minutes of sedentary time with moderate-to-vigorous physical activity, but not with light activity, showed beneficial associations to cardio-metabolic health markers (Hamer et al. 2014).

In another study utilizing similar analysis methods, reallocating 30 minutes of sedentary time to light activity was beneficially associated with cardiometabolic health markers (Buman et al. 2014). Yet, reallocating same amount of sedentary time to moderate-to-vigorous activity was associated with



more sizeable benefits. A study by Wellburn et al. (2016) showed that 50 minutes of light activity is required to produce similar benefits to 10 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous activity (Wellburn et al. 2016). Therefore, when the intensity of replacement activity is higher, the benefits of reallocating sedentary time to activity are larger or can be gained in a shorter period of time.

The pattern in which sedentary time is accumulated might also be important regardless of the total sedentary time. Healy et al. (2008) showed that breaks in sedentary time were beneficially associated with BMI, waist circumference, triglycerides and 2-h plasma glucose independent of total sedentary time and moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (Healy et al. 2008).

As reviewed recently, cross-sectional findings support the association of breaks in sedentary time on obesity metrics (Chastin et al. 2015; Brocklebank et al. 2015) and on triglycerides independent of moderate-to-vigorous activity or total sedentary time. Based on these findings, it appears as each part of the sedentary behavior pattern, namely frequency, interruptions, time and type of sedentary behavior, to have its own unique influence on health outcomes.

"...each part of the sedentary behavior pattern, namely frequency, interruptions, time and type of sedentary behavior, to have its own unique influence on health outcomes."

3. Health effects of standing

3.1 Static and dynamic standing

Static and dynamic standing should be considered as different activity types as loading and muscle activation patterns differ considerably between them. In occupational setting dynamic standing has been defined as ergonomic posture, in which a worker intermittently walks while he is on the job (Balasubramanian et al. 2009). In a broader sense dynamic standing can be defined as standing posture, in which person is doing some movements (for example fidgeting or balancing on a soft or unstable surface). "... dynamic standing can be defined as standing posture, in which person is doing some movements (for example fidgeting or balancing on a soft or unstable surface)."

Its stationary equivalent, passive or stationary standing is a posture, in which an individual does not walk or move, but stands rather still. It has been reported that stationary standing accelerates the onset of fatigue, decreases the blood flow to the muscles, and causes pain in the leg, back and neck muscles (Quiros, 2001). High incidences of low-back pain have been associated with prolonged static standing over 4 hours per day (Jorgensen, Hansen, Lundager, & Winkel, 1993; Magora, 1972). Furthermore, daily working for prolonged periods in a stationary standing has been linked to aggravated muscle fatigue, lower back pain, stiffness in the neck/shoulders, and other health problems (Dempsey, 1998).

In his study with industrial workers, Balasubramanian et al. (2009) found that dynamic standing posture fatigues lower extremity muscles at a much slower rate than a stationary standing posture. Furthermore, the perceived pain/discomfort in the muscles is also lower during a dynamic compared to a stationary posture (Balasubramanian et al. 2009). Due to these findings dynamic standing should be preferred choice over stationary standing.

"Due to these findings dynamic standing should be preferred choice over stationary standing."

Especially, in industrial work that cannot be performed sitting down such an ergonomic design reduces the risk of acquiring musculoskeletal disorders among laborers and may have a positive impact on productivity enhancement (Balasubramanian et al. 2009).

3.2 Ergonomics of standing

Epidemiological studies suggest that prolonged standing may be associated with adverse health issues such as atherosclerotic progression, venous insufficiency, as well as back and lower limb

Gymba 2020[©] All rights reserved

White paper Gymba 2020[©]

discomfort (Baker et al. 2018). Baker et al. (2018) found that prolonged bouts of standing (up to two hours of uninterrupted standing) resulted in increased discomfort in multiple areas of the body and decreases in cognition.

Also, epidemiological studies of occupations that require prolonged standing (e.g. workers in industrial and retail) have found several negative health issues associated with too much standing including chronic venous insufficiency and varicose veins (Beebe-Dimmer et al. 2005, Tuchsen et al. 2005), perinatal risks (Mozurkewich et al. 2000, Magann et al. 2005), atherosclerotic progression (Krause et al. 2000), and symptoms in the back (Coenen et al. 2016) and lower limbs (Leroux et al. 2005). Although, it has been suggested that less constrained posture in standing compared to sitting allows more movement. Consequently, movement reduces static muscle contractions and potentially work-related discomfort (Roelofs and Straker 2002). These studies do not explicitly define whether standing was static or dynamic and this should be considered when interpreting the findings of these studies.

3.3 Discomfort and productivity

Perceived mental state has been found to deteriorate with prolonged static standing and to be moderately correlated with body discomfort (Baker et al. 2018). This finding is in line findings of Hasegawa et al. (2001) who observed increased signs of fatigue (such as changing position, stretching, yawning) in standing compared to sitting and Chester et al. (2002) who reported a trend for tiredness to increase with time. To avoid mental state deterioration, probably movement is required, and this may also assist with managing discomfort (Baker et al. 2018). Movement could be incorporated, for example, through dynamic standing or intermittent activity breaks that would break the monotony of static standing.

"To avoid mental state deterioration, probably lower or higher level of movement is required, and this may also assist with managing discomfort."

In ergonomics it is important to distinguish between static and dynamic work of the muscles. Dynamic work is characterized by a rhythmic change of relaxation and contraction of the muscles, which is a favourable condition for the blood supply of the working muscles. Static work, in contrast, is characterized by slow contractions or by extended, lasting holding postures. In forceful static muscle contraction, the blood supply is impaired and waste products start to accumulate in the muscles, that causes the acute pain in the statically loaded muscle. If the static load is repeated either for long periods of time and frequently enough, chronic pains and conditions may result. Commonly, these pains are not only related to pathological changes in the muscles, but also in the connective tissues of the ligaments, tendons, and joint capsules. (Grandjean & Hunting 1977)

3.4 Blood flow and swelling of legs during standing and walking

During prolonged stationary standing metabolic wastes tend to accumulate within the muscles because of the reduced blood flow (Balasubramanian et al. 2009). The stillness of legs in such a case can lead to an accumulation of the blood in the lower legs, which can, in turn, cause leg swelling and edema.

In dynamic standing, phasic muscle contractions are likely to assist with venous return and reduce swelling of the legs (Baker et al. 2018). Studies have indeed found that unrestricted standing results in less swelling than sitting despite the higher hydrostatic pressure during standing (Seo et al. 1996). Dynamic standing has potential to increase productivity (Balasubramanian et al. 2009) as perceived mental state has been found to be moderately correlated with body discomfort (Baker et al. 2018).

"Dynamic standing has the potential to increase productivity..."

The mean venous pressure in the ankle during standing is between 80 and 87 mm (Chester et al., 2002; Konz and Johnson, 2000) and interestingly walking drops the ankle venous pressure down to a baseline value of 21 to 23 mm in just 10 steps (Konz and Johnson, 2000). Due to these findings, it has been suggesting performing 2–4 min of walking or

movement for every 15 min of stationary standing work (Konz and Johnson 2000).

"Therefore, even short duration of movement during standing has beneficial effects."

3.5 Pressure on the feet during standing

Discomfort experienced in the feet is somewhat related to pressure under the feet. During standing, the weight-transmitting area of the foot (ball of great toe and heel) is compressed and deformed by the pressure (Balasubramanian 2008). This can inhibit the supply of blood to the area, resulting in oxygen deficiency of the tissue, and can cause discomfort and fatigue (Henderson, Price, Brandstater, & Mandac, 1994). Due to this, softer surfaces and movement can help in the discomfort and fatigue experienced during standing by redistributing the pressure to different areas of the feet. It is postulated that unloading of passive tissues through movement is used to alleviate or manage discomfort (Gallagher and Callaghan 2015) however further research is required to investigate whether the movement is pre-emptive or reactionary. Despite exact scientific proof, it is rather straightforward to assume that movement during dynamic standing would change the pressure distribution under the feet and that way help reduce the discomfort caused by pressure on weightransmitting areas of the feet.

4. Incorrect posture and musculoskeletal problems

4.1 Health problems related to poor posture

Many of the aches, pains and musculoskeletal problems of adults are the result of the long-term effects of incorrect postures or body misalignment. For example, postural kyphosis (excessive rounding of the upper spine) in adolescence may be a result of poor sitting and standing habits. Scientific studies have linked poor posture to several health problems and concerns, including back pain, neck pain, spinal stress, reduced lung capacity, joint and muscle injury, headaches, fatigue, high blood pressure, stroke, higher susceptibility to injury, and even dental problems and diabetes.

Furthermore, multiple studies have found an association between poor work posture and back pain (e.g. Nowotny et al. 2011, Wong et al. 2009, and Tissot et al. 2009). Studies have shown that prolonged static trunk flexion can subject the spine to reduced muscle activity of multifidus (Williams et al. 2000), provoke flexion relaxation phenomenon of the thoracic erector spinae (resulting in the creep response of the tissues of lumbar spine) (e.g. McGill & Brown 1992), reduce the oxygenation of lumbar extensors due to the constant isometric contraction (McGill et al. 2000), and increase the intradiscal pressure (Wilke et al 1999). The effects of incorrect posture also include disturbances of the symmetric distribution of tensile and compressive forces acting on both sides of the body and the emergence of harmful shear forces. Additionally, the torques of antigravity muscles also change unfavourably. This may lead to the development of a repetitive strain syndrome, compression of nerve roots, stenosis of intervertebral foramina, and back pain (Nowotny et al. 2011) therefore highlighting the importance to avoid poor work postures and have enough variation in postures and tasks throughout the day.

4.2 Task variation

Task variation in repetitive work has been an area of interest as it can possibly alleviate fatigue and the risks of musculoskeletal disorders. Task variation includes changes in task characteristics, postural changes, and breaks. Especially important are breaks that include an exercise regime, or a change in posture from that used when working. Even though there is rather little high-quality scientific evidence about positive effects of variation in postures, there is general agreement among clinicians and researchers that variation is better than static postures that are held in extended periods of time. Increased variability between job tasks of an individual can be achieved by introducing new tasks that vary in the movements and postures required (Moller et al., 2001, HSE, 2002, Canadian centre for occupational health and safety, Brown & Mitchell, 1988, Ergo in demand, Occupational safety and health, 1991 and the Swedish work environment authority, 2005). Similarly,



performing exercises can be considered as a way of providing a variation of movement and posture. Exercise breaks or conventional rest breaks provide a way of increasing 'variation' in the job without requiring work tasks to be reallocated among workers. Therefore, different kind of breaks provide a practical way to decrease the risk of musculoskeletal disorders and is one of the most frequently recommended interventions against musculoskeletal disorders (Konz 1998).

> "There is general agreement among clinicians and researchers that variation is better than static postures that are held in extended periods of time."

4.3 Adverse effects of static postures and sitting on intervertebral discs

The type of posture is not only important to static muscle strain and muscle fatigue, it is even more important for a healthy spine and more specifically to healthy interverbal discs (Grandjean & Hunting 1977). In industry, backache is the most frequent cause of absenteeism and the main reason for these backaches is a degeneration of the interverbal discs. The degeneration of the discs is accompanied by a flattening of the discs, and by a loss of mechanical resistance leading to nerve irritations, to mechanical troubles between the vertebrae, and to pains.

Pressure inside the discs is considerably higher when the trunk is bent forwards compared with standing in an upright position (Nachemson and Elfstrtim 1970; Andersson and Ortengren 1974; Nachemson 1974). Furthermore, the intradiscal pressure is higher in the sitting than in the standing posture. This is very likely due to the turning mechanism of the hips in the sitting position, which results in a kyphosis in the lumbar region of the spine. Considerable increase in intradiscal pressure should be considered as an unnecessary load and strain on the discs, promoting pathological changes.

4.4 Movement of interverbal discs

It is well known that the interverbal discs themselves do not have a good blood supply (Grandjean & Hünting 1977) and it has been shown that nutritive substances are transported by diffusion with tissue liquids into the disc (Krämer 1973). If the load on the disc is heavy, the tissue liquids flow out of the disc, and in turn, if the load is small, the tissue liquid flows into the disc. It has been concluded that a periodical change of the load on the discs provides an effective pump mechanism and is important for their nutrition and thus also for their resistance against pathological changes (Krämer 1973; Grandjean & Hünting 1977). This evidence supports the notion that movement during dynamic standing provides an effective way to facilitate the transport of nutritive substances to the interverbal discs of the spine and thus protect discs against pathological changes.

"...dynamic standing provides an effective way to facilitate the transport of nutritive substances to the interverbal discs of the spine and protect discs against pathological changes."

5. Recommendations for active working

In predominantly desk-based occupations, workers should aim to follow these recommendations (Buckley et al. 2015):

- Initially progress towards accumulating at least 2 h/day of standing and light activity during working hours, eventually progressing to a total of 4 h/day (prorated to part-time hours).
- Sitting should be regularly broken up with standing and vice versa, and thus, sit-stand adjustable desk stations are highly recommended.
- Prolonged static standing postures should be avoided; movement needs to be checked and corrected on a regular basis especially in the presence of any musculoskeletal sensations.

6. Balance training

Dynamic standing on an unbalanced surface can be considered as balance training. In general balance, or postural control is considered to be a critical component of motor skills as poor balance is associated with injury or falls in many populations

Gymba®

(Burke et al. 2008; Gabbard 2008; McGuine et al. 2000). Balance is defined as the ability to maintain the centre of gravity of the body within its base of support and can be categorized into static or dynamic balance. Static balance is the ability to maintain the body in static equilibrium (Goldie et al. 1989; Olmsted et al. 2002). Dynamic balance is more challenging as it requires the ability to sustain equilibrium during a transition from a dynamic to a static state (Ross & Guskiewicz 2004). Balance requires effective integration of vestibular. proprioceptive and visual inputs to produce an efferent response to control the body within its base of support (Guskiewicz & Perrin 1996; Irrgang et al. 1994). Loss of balance can result in injury. Especially, poor balance has been linked to lateral ankle sprains (McGuine et al. 2000) and can explain differences between individuals with and without functional ankle instability (Ross & Guskiewicz 2004 and 2005; Wikstrom et al. 2007). Therefore, improving balance is an important objective of many rehabilitation prevention programs and injury (Emery et al. 2005, Junge et al. 2002; Myklebust et al. 2003, Olsen et al. 2005; Wedderkopp et al. 1999).

"...improving balance is an important objective of many rehabilitation and injury prevention programs."

Systematic scientific review provides strong evidence that both static and dynamic balance can be improved by training. 14 out of 16 well-performed scientific articles demonstrated balance improvements after their training program (DiStefano et al. 2009). The 2 studies that did not observe balance improvements assessed static balance, which may be an outcome that is too easy for healthy subjects to show improvement (Cox et al. 1993; Puls & Gribble 2007).

There has been speculation that perhaps balance improvements are not possible with a functional and healthy people. The results of above-mentioned studies do not support this speculation as all the studies had a healthy population and the majority found dramatic improvements in balance. Two of the studies had even elite athletes as participants and still observed improvements (Holm et al. 2004; Kovacs et al. 2004). Therefore, balance training is beneficial also for healthy normal people and even to skilful elite athletes.

"...balance training is beneficial also for healthy normal people and even to skilful elite athletes."

Balance training performed at least 10 minutes per day, 3 days per week, for 4 weeks balance training appear to improve balance ability. Types of balance training can include the use of unstable surfaces, tilt boards, and dynamic body movements while maintaining a static stance.

7. Summary and conclusions

Following main points can be stated related to different aspects of sitting and sedentary behaviour, task variation and breaks, and static and dynamic standing:

Sitting and sedentary behaviour:

- Sedentary time predicts several chronic health conditions independently from exercise.
- Breaks in sedentary time are associated with several health benefits independent of total sedentary time and moderate-to-vigorous physical activity

Task variation and breaks:

- Different kind of activity breaks provide a practical way to decrease the risk of musculoskeletal disorders.
- There is general agreement among clinicians and researchers that variation is better than extended static postures.

Static and dynamic standing:

- **Prolonged static** standing may be associated with **discomfort** in multiple areas of the body, **decreases in cognition**, and **adverse health issues**.
- **Perceived mental** state has been found to **deteriorate with prolonged static standing** and this can probably be avoided with lower or higher level of movement.
- During prolonged stationary standing metabolic wastes accumulate within the muscles and can lead to leg swelling and edema.
- Movement during dynamic standing seems to protect intervertebral discs against pathological changes.
- **Dynamic standing** with rhythmic change of relaxation and contraction of the muscles is a **favourable condition for the blood supply** of the working muscles and **venous return**.
- Dynamic standing on unbalanced surface can be considered as **balance training**, which has been shown to be **beneficial also for healthy working age people**
- **Dynamic standing** has potential to **increase productivity** as it decreases body discomfort related to static standing.

In conclusion, sitting, static standing and static postures in general are related to adverse health outcomes ranging from body discomfort to musculoskeletal problems and to variety of chronic diseases. These adverse health effects can be mitigated by introducing activity breaks, replacing static standing with dynamic standing and by providing variation to extended static postures.

8. References

Burke-Doe, A, Hudson, A, Werth, H, and Riordan, DG. Knowledge of osteoporosis risk factors and prevalence of risk factors for osteoporosis, falls, and fracture in functionally independent older adults. J Geriatr Phys Ther 31: 11–17, 2008.

Gabbard, CP. Lifelong Motor Development (5th ed). San Francisco, CA: Pearson Benjamin Cummings, 2008.

McGuine, TA, Greene, JJ, Best, T, and Leverson, G. Balance as a predictor of ankle injuries in high school basketball players. Clin J Sport Med 10: 239–244, 2000.

Goldie, PA, Bach, TM, and Evans, OM. Force platform measures for evaluating postural control: Reliability and validity. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 70: 510–517, 1989.

Olmsted, LC, Carcia, CR, Hertel, J, and Shultz, SJ. Efficacy of the star excursion balance tests in detecting reach deficits in subjects with chronic ankle instability. J Athletic Train 37: 501–506, 2002.

Guskiewicz, KM and Perrin, DH. Research and clinical applications of assessing balance. J Sport Rehabil 5: 45–63, 1996.

Irrgang, JJ, Whitney, S, and Cox, E. Balance and proprioceptive training for rehabilitation of the lower extremity. J Sport Rehabil 3: 68–83, 1994.

Ross, SE and Guskiewicz, KM. Examination of static and dynamic postural stability in individuals with functionally stable and unstable ankles. Clin J Sport Med 14: 332–338, 2004.

Ross, SE, Guskiewicz, KM, and Yu, B. Single-leg jump-landing stabilization times in subjects with functionally unstable ankles. J Athletic Train 40: 298–304, 2005.

Wikstrom, EA, Tillman, MD, Chmielewski, TL, Cauraugh, JH, and Borsa, PA. Dynamic postural stability deficits in subjects with selfreported ankle instability. Med Sci Sports Exerc 39: 397–402, 2007.

Emery, CA, Cassidy, JD, Klassen, TP, Rosychuk, RJ, and Rowe, BH. Effectiveness of a home-based balance-training program in reducing sports-related injuries among healthy adolescents: A cluster randomized controlled trial. CMAJ 172: 749–754, 2005.

Junge, A, Rosch, D, Peterson, L, Graf-Baumann, T, and Dvorak, J. Prevention of soccer injuries: A prospective intervention study in youth amateur players. Am J Sports Med 30: 652–659, 2002.

Myklebust, G, Engebretsen, L, Braekken, IH, Skjolberg, A, Olsen, OE, and Bahr, R. Prevention of anterior cruciate ligament injuries in female team handball players: a prospective intervention study over three seasons. Clin J Sport Med 13: 71–78, 2003.

Olsen, OE, Myklebust, G, Engebretsen, L, Holme, I, and Bahr, R. Exercises to prevent lower limb injuries in youth sports: Cluster randomised controlled trial. BMJ 330: 449, 2005.

Wedderkopp, N, Kaltoft, M, Lundgaard, B, Rosendahl, M, and Froberg, K. Prevention of injuries in young female players in European team handball. A prospective intervention study. Scand J Med Sci Sports 9: 41–47, 1999.

Cox, E, Lephart, S, and Irrgang, JJ. Unilateral balance training in noninjured individuals and the effects on postural sway. J Sport Rehabil 2: 87–96, 1993.



Puls, A and Gribble, P. A comparison of two Thera-Band training rehabilitation protocols on postural control. J Sport Rehabil 16: 75–84, 2007.

Holm, I, Fosdahl, MA, Friis, A, Risberg, MA, Myklebust, G, and Steen, H. Effect of neuromuscular training on proprioception, balance, muscle strength, and lower limb function in female team handball players. Clin J Sport Med 14: 88–94, 2004.

Kovacs, EJ, Birmingham, TB, Forwell, L, and Litchfield, RB. Effect of training on postural control in figure skaters: A randomized controlled trial of neuromuscular versus basic off-ice training programs. Clin J Sport Med 14: 215–224, 2004.

Chester, M.R., Rys, M.J., Konz, S.A., 2002. Leg swelling, comfort and fatigue when sitting, standing, and sit/standing. International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics 29, 289–296.

Konz, S., Johnson, S., 2000. Work Design: Occupational Ergonomics, sixth ed. Holcomb Hathaway Publishing, Scottsdale.

Quiros, L., 2001. BNL Ergonomics Bulletin, Vol. 4. Brookhaven National Laboratory, New York.

Richelle Baker, Pieter. Coenen, Erin Howie, Jeremy. Lee, Ann Williamson & Leon Straker (2018): A detailed description of the short term musculoskeletal and cognitive effects of prolonged standing for office computer work, Ergonomics, DOI: 10.1080/00140139.2017.1420825

DiStefano, Lindsay; Clark, Micheal; Padua, Darin. Evidence Supporting Balance Training in Healthy Individuals: A Systemic Review. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research: December 2009 - Volume 23 - Issue 9 - p 2718-2731. doi: 10.1519/JSC.0b013e3181c1f7c5

Buckley JP, Hedge A, Yates T, et al. The sedentary office: an expert statement on the growing case for change towards better health and productivity. *Br J Sports Med.* 2015;49(21):1357–1362. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2015-094618

Jorgensen, K., Hansen, L., Lundager, K., & Winkel, J. (1993). Low back muscle reactions to constrained standing in relation to shock absorbing properties of floor and shoes. In R. Nielsen & K. Jorgensen (Eds.), Advances in industrial ergonomics and safety V (pp. 279–283). London: Taylor & Francis.

Henderson, J. L., Price, S. H., Brandstater, M. E., & Mandac, B. R. (1994). Efficacy of three measures to relieve pressure in seated persons with spinal cord injury. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 75, 535–539.

Krämer, J.1973 Biomechanische Veränderungen im lumbalen Bewegungssegment. Hippokrates Verlag, Stuttgart.

Buckley JP, Hedge A, Yates T, et al. The sedentary office: an expert statement on the growing case for change towards better health and productivity. Br J Sports Med. 2015;49(21):1357–1362. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2015-094618

Akihiko SE0, Masayuki KAKEHASHI, Satoko TSURU and Fumitaka YOSHINAGA. Leg Swelling during Continuous Standing and Sitting Work without Restricting Leg Movement. J Occup Health 1996; 38: 186-189

Mula, Allison. 'Ergonomics and the Standing Desk'. 1 Jan. 2018 : 171-174.

Richelle Baker, Pieter. Coenen, Erin Howie, Jeremy. Lee, Ann Williamson & Leon Straker (2018): A detailed description of the short term musculoskeletal and cognitive effects of prolonged standing for office computer work, Ergonomics, DOI: 10.1080/00140139.2017.1420825

Beebe-Dimmer, J.L., Pfeifer, J.R., Engle, J.S. & Schottenfeld, D., 2005. The epidemiology of chronic venous insufficiency and varicose veins. Annals of Epidemiology, 15 (3), 175-184.

Tuchsen, F., Hannerz, H., Burr, H. & Krause, N., 2005. Prolonged standing at work and

hospitalisation due to varicose veins: A 12 year prospective study of the danish population. Occupational and Environmental Medicine, 62 (12), 847-850.

Mozurkewich, E.L., Luke, B., Avni, M. & Wolf, F.M., 2000. Working conditions and adverse pregnancy outcome: A meta-analysis. Obstetrics & Gynecology, 95 (4), 623-635.

Magann, E.F., Evans, S.F., Chauhan, S.P., Nolan, T.E., Henderson, J., Klausen, J.H., Newnham, J.P. & Morrison, J.C., 2005. The effects of standing, lifting and noise exposure on preterm birth, growth restriction, and perinatal death in healthy low-risk working military women. Journal of Maternal-Fetal and Neonatal Medicine, 18 (3), 155-62.

Krause, N., Lynch, J.W., Kaplan, G.A., Cohen, R.D., Salonen, R. & Salonen, J.T., 2000. Standing at work and progression of carotid atherosclerosis. Scandinavian Journal of Work Environmental and Health, 26 (3), 227-36.

Coenen, P., Willenberg, L., Parry, S., Shi, J.W., Romero, L., Blackwood, D.M., Maher, C.G., Healy, G.N., Dunstan, D.W. & Straker, L.M., 2016. Associations of occupational standing with musculoskeletal symptoms: A systematic review with meta-analysis. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 0, 1-9.

Leroux, I., Dionne, C.E., Bourbonnais, R. & Brisson, C., 2005. Prevalence of musculoskeletal pain and associated factors in the quebec working population.International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health, 78 (5), 379-386.

Roelofs, A. & Straker, L., 2002. The experience of musculoskeletal discomfort amongst bank tellers who just sit, just stand or sit and stand at work. Ergonomics SA, 14 (2), 11-29.

Grandjean, E. and Hünting, W., 1977. Ergonomics of posture—review of various problems of standing and sitting posture. Applied ergonomics, 8(3), pp.135-140.

Williams, M., Solomonow, M., Zhou, B.H., Baratta, R.V. and Harris, M., 2000. Multifidus spasms elicited by prolonged lumbar flexion. Spine, 25(22), pp.2916-2924.

Youssef, J., Davidson, B., Zhou, B.H., Lu, Y., Patel, V. and Solomonow, M., 2008. Neuromuscular neutral zones response to static



lumbar flexion: muscular stability compensator. Clinical Biomechanics, 23(7), pp.870-880.

Nowotny J, Nowotny-Czupryna O, Brzęk A, Kowalczyk A, Czupryna K. Body posture and syndromes of back pain. Ortop Traumatol Rehabil. 2011 Jan-Feb;13(1):59-71.

Wong KC, Lee RY, Yeung SS. The association between back pain and trunk posture of workers in a special school for the severe handicaps. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2009 Apr 29;10:43. doi: 10.1186/1471-2474-10-43.

Tissot F, Messing K, Stock S. Studying the relationship between low back pain and working postures among those who stand and those who sit most of the working day. Ergonomics. 2009 Nov;52(11):1402-18. doi: 10.1080/00140130903141204.

McGill SM, Brown S: Creep response of the lumbar spine to prolonged full flexion. Clin Biomech 1992, 7:43-46.

McGill SM, Hughson RL, Parks K: Lumbar erector spinae oxygenation during prolonged contractions: implications for pro-longed work. Ergonomics 2000, 43(4):486-493.

Wilke HJ, Neef P, Caimi M, Hoogland T, Claes LE: New in vivo measurements of pressures in the intervertebral disc in daily life. Spine 1999, 24(8):755-762.

Moller T, Mathiassen SE, Franzon H, Kihlberg S. 2001. The influence of job rotation on mechanical exposure variability in cyclic assembly work. National Institute for working life 2:1-17.

Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety (CCOHS) http://www.ccohs.ca/oshanswers/ergonomics

Brown D.A, Mitchell R. 1988. The pocket ergonomist. Occupational safety and health service. Swedish work environment authority http://www.av.se/inenglish/

Konz S. 1998. Work/rest. Part II: The scientific basis (knowledge base) for the guide. International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics 22: 73 – 99.

Andersson, B.J.G., and Ortengren, R. 1974 Lumbar disc pressure and myoelectric back muscle activity during sitting, Studies on an office chair. Scand J Rehabilitation Medicine, 3, 104-114;3, 122-127; 3, 128-135.

Nachemson, A., and Elfstrtöm, G. 1970 Intravital Dynamic Pressure Measurements in Lumbar Discs, Scand J Rehabilitation Medicine, Suppl 1, Almqvist and Wiksell, Stockholm.

Nachemson, A. 1974 Lumbar intradiscal pressure. Results from in vitro and in vivo experiments with some clinical implications, 7 Wiss Konf. Deutscher Naturforscher und Aerzte, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York.

Hamer, M., Stamatakis, E., & Steptoe, A. 2014. Effects of substituting sedentary time with physical activity on metabolic risk. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise 46 (10): 1946–1950.

Sedentary Behaviour Research Network. 2012. Letter to the Editor: Standardized use of the terms "sedentary" and "sedentary behaviours." Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism 37 (3): 540–542.

Tremblay, M.S., Salomé, A., Barnes, J.D., Saunders, T.J., Carson, V., Latimer-Cheung, A.E., Chastin, S.F.M., Altenburg, T.M., Chinapaw, M.J.M., and on behalf of SBRN Terminology Consensus Project Participants. 2017. Sedentary Behavior Research Network (SBRN) – Terminology Consensus Project process and outcome. International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity 14:75.

Katzmarzyk, P. T., Gledhill, N. & Shephard, R. J. 2000. The economic burden of physical inactivity in Canada. CMAJ: Canadian Medical Association journal 163 (11), 1435-1440.

Dunstan, D. W., Salmon, J., Healy, G. N., Shaw, J. E., Jolley, D., Zimmet, P. Z., Owen, N. & AusDiab Steering Committee 2007. Association of television viewing with fasting and 2-h postchallenge plasma glucose levels in adults without diagnosed diabetes. Diabetes Care 30 (3), 516-522.

Dunstan, D. W., Salmon, J., Owen, N., Armstrong, T., Zimmet, P. Z., Welborn, T. A., Cameron, A. J., Dwyer, T., Jolley, D., Shaw, J. E. & AusDiab Steering Committee 2004. Physical activity and television viewing in relation to risk of undiagnosed abnormal glucose metabolism in adults. Diabetes Care 27 (11), 2603-2609.

Dunstan, D. W., Salmon, J., Owen, N., Armstrong, T., Zimmet, P. Z., Welborn, T. A., Cameron, A. J., Dwyer, T., Jolley, D., Shaw, J. E. & AusDiab Steering Committee 2005. Associations of TV viewing and physical activity with the metabolic syndrome in Australian adults. Diabetologia 48 (11), 2254-2261.

Hu, F. B. 2003. Sedentary lifestyle and risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes. Lipids 38 (2), 103-108.

Hu, F. B., Leitzmann, M. F., Stampfer, M. J., Colditz, G. A., Willett, W. C. & Rimm, E. B. 2001. Physical activity and television watching in relation to risk for type 2 diabetes mellitus in men. Archives of Internal Medicine 161 (12), 1542-1548.

Jakes, R. W., Day, N. E., Khaw, K. T., Luben, R., Oakes, S., Welch, A., Bingham, S. & Wareham, N. J. 2003. Television viewing and low participation in vigorous recreation are independently associated with obesity and markers of cardiovascular disease risk: EPIC-Norfolk population-based study. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 57 (9), 1089-1096.

Kronenberg, F., Pereira, M. A., Schmitz, M. K., Arnett, D. K., Evenson, K. R., Crapo, R. O., Jensen, R. L., Burke, G. L., Sholinsky, P., Ellison, R. C. & Hunt, S. C. 2000. Influence of leisure time physical activity and television watching on atherosclerosis risk factors in the NHLBI Family Heart Study. Atherosclerosis 153 (2), 433-443.

Healy, G. N., Dunstan, D. W., Salmon, J., Cerin, E., Shaw, J. E., Zimmet, P. Z. & Owen, N. 2008. Breaks in sedentary time: beneficial associations with metabolic risk. Diabetes Care 31 (4), 661-666.

Buman, M.P., Winkler, E.A.H., Kurka, J.M., Hekler, E.B., Baldwin, C.M., Owen,

Wellburn, S., Ryan, C.G., Azevedo, L.B., Ells, L., Martin, D.J., Atkinson, G., & Batterham, A.M. 2016. Displacing Sedentary Time:



Association with Cardiovascular Disease Prevalence. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise 48 (4): 641–647.

Chastin, S.F.M., Egerton, T., Leask, C., & Stamatakis, E. 2015. Metaanalysis of the relationship between breaks in sedentary behavior and cardiometabolic health. Obesity 23 (9): 1800–1810.

Brocklebank, L.A., Falconer, C.L., Page, A.S., Perry, R., & Cooper, A.R. 2015. Accelerometer-measured sedentary time and cardiometabolic biomarkers: A systematic review. Preventive Medicine 76 92–102.